

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Progress in Biophysics & Molecular Biology

Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology 92 (2006) 108-118

www.elsevier.com/locate/pbiomolbio

Review

The mechanisms and consequences of ultraviolet-induced immunosuppression

Mary Norval*

Medical Microbiology, University of Edinburgh Medical School, Teviot Place, Edinburgh EH8 9AG, Scotland, UK

Available online 28 February 2006

Abstract

Exposure to ultraviolet radiation (UVR) can result in immune suppression to antigens encountered within a few days of the irradiation. The process leading to the down-regulation in immune responses is complex. It is initiated by several photoreceptors located in the skin surface, namely DNA, *trans*-urocanic acid and membrane components. The absorption of UVR by these chromophores then leads to the release of a wide range of mediators that can affect antigen presenting cells locally or systemically. The final steps include the generation of antigen-specific T cells capable of regulating immunity. The consequences of the UV-induced changes in the skin immune system for the control of skin cancers, infectious diseases including vaccination, and autoimmune diseases are considered. Finally, the effects of active vitamin D, synthesised in the epidermis following UVR, are discussed in the context of the skin immune response. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Ultraviolet radiation; Immune suppression; T regulatory cells; Skin tumours; Infectious diseases; Skin immune system

Contents

1.	Introduction	109					
2.	The skin immune system	109					
3.	The initiation of UV-induced immunosuppression: photoreceptors						
4.	Secondary steps in UV-induced immunosuppression						
5.	General remarks concerning the mechanisms of UV-induced immunosuppression						
6.	The consequences of UV-induced immunosuppression for humans						
	6.1. Skin tumours	113					
	6.2. Infectious diseases and vaccination	114					
	6.3. Autoimmune diseases	115					
7.	The skin immune system and vitamin D	115					
	Conclusions and outstanding questions						
Refe	erences	116					

*Tel.: +441316503167; fax: +441316504193.

E-mail address: m.norval@ed.ac.uk.

^{0079-6107/\$ -} see front matter 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.pbiomolbio.2006.02.009

1. Introduction

Almost 30 years ago, Fisher and Kripke were the first to demonstrate that ultraviolet radiation (UVR) caused suppression of certain aspects of the immune system (Fisher and Kripke, 1977). This discovery marked the initiation of the exciting and rapidly progressing subject area, photoimmunology, that has led to important advances in understanding how the skin immune system operates. In addition, UV-induced immunosuppression has considerable implications for a range of issues including skin cancers, infectious diseases and vaccination, autoimmune diseases, photoprotection and phototherapy.

From work done in the early 1970s, it was known that exposure of mice to UVR over a period of several months led to the formation of multiple skin cancers. In contrast to most other tumours, these were highly antigenic and were rejected on transplantation to recipients of the same genetic background. However, if the recipient mice were UV irradiated (for a period insufficiently long to induce primary skin tumours) before the transplantation, the tumours were not rejected and grew progressively (Kripke and Fisher, 1976). This UV effect was shown to be systemic and to operate through an immunological mechanism.

Since these early days, many groups of researchers have tried to elucidate the molecular events leading to immune suppression following UVR. The pathways involved have turned out to be complex and consist of multiple steps. The exact sequence of events is still not completely understood and is likely to vary with UV dose and wavelength, and frequency of exposure as well as with the particular antigen and immune parameter of interest. In experimental systems, there are differences between what is termed local and systemic immunosuppression. In the former, the antigen is applied directly to the irradiated body site soon after the UV exposure. In the latter, following the UV exposure of one part of the body, the antigen is applied to a distant, unirradiated body site.

In this paper, an outline is given first of the skin immune system. Next the steps leading to UV-induced immunosuppression are discussed briefly: they are divided into the primary events involving photoreceptors in the skin, and secondary events involving mediator production, effects on antigen presentation and the generation of particular T cell subsets. The consequences of the immune modulation for skin tumours, infectious diseases, vaccination and autoimmune diseases are then considered. Finally, the interaction of the skin immune system with active vitamin D, synthesised in the epidermis in response to UVR, is taken into account.

2. The skin immune system

The skin immune system consists of several cell types, some resident in the epidermis or dermis and some that move, often connecting the skin with blood or lymph. On contact with a foreign antigen or hapten, a population of dendritic cells (DCs) called Langerhans cells (LCs) which form a interdigitating network in the epidermis, internalise and process it. The DCs located in the dermis may play a similar role. Changes in the production of cytokines and other mediators by keratinocytes in the epidermis and mast cells in the dermis occur locally, and these induce the migration of some LCs to the draining lymph node via the afferent lymph. The LCs mature as they move, as demonstrated by the changed expression of various co-stimulatory and adhesion molecules on their surfaces. On arrival in the lymph node, the LCs, now termed DCs, present the processed antigen fragments or hapten to naïve T cells. The early stages of the DC-T cell interaction are critical in determining the type of immune response generated (Larregina and Falo, 2005). The DCs can stimulate CD4⁺ T cells, which then differentiate into the T helper 1 (Th1) subtype or the Th2 subtype. The Th1 cells secrete cytokines such as interleukin-2 (IL-2) and interferon- γ that promote cellular immunity, while the Th2 cells secrete cytokines such as IL-4 and IL-10 that promote humoral immunity and are generally suppressive for cellular responses. The Th1 cytokines are critical in the control of intracellular infections and tumours, while the Th2 cytokines help to control extracellular infections. The DCs can also activate CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cells, particularly important in the control of infected cells or tumour cells. Furthermore they stimulate particular T cells with regulatory functions called T regulatory (T_{reg}) cells, and recently have been shown to present antigens to natural killer T (NK-T) cells. Those populations of T cells expressing skin homing receptors then move from the lymph nodes to the skin and extravasate into the tissues where they act as effector cells, often promoting the migration of macrophages and neutrophils to the site of antigenic challenge.

Delayed hypersensitivity is a frequently used measure of the extent of an immune response in the skin. It is suppressed very effectively by UVR. In contact hypersensitivity (CHS), a hapten termed a contact sensitiser is used. In the induction phase, it is applied epicutaneously and is picked up by LCs in the epidermis. The same hapten is applied several days later in the elicitation phase. This results in a vigorous inflammatory response. CHS is measured experimentally by a change in skin colour or in skin thickness over the next 24–48 h. In delayed type hypersensitivity (DTH), the same two step procedure is carried out, except the antigen is complex, such as a large protein or a microorganism, and it is administered subcutaneously in most cases; thus, involving different types of antigen presenting cells than those in the skin.

3. The initiation of UV-induced immunosuppression: photoreceptors

As UVR penetrates poorly into the skin layers, the initiation of the complex pathway leading to immune suppression is thought to be absorption by chromophores at or near the body surface called photoreceptors. Convincing evidence has been published to indicate that DNA damage, *trans* to *cis* isomerisation of urocanic acid (UCA), and membrane changes can be considered as primary events. Each of these will be considered briefly in turn.

DNA is a major chromophore for UVR in the skin, with an absorption maximum between 305 and 310 nm, shifted from the normal absorption maximum for DNA of 260 nm as cutaneous DNA is screened from direct UVR. The most frequent photoproduct is cyclobutane pyrimidine dimers (CPDs) and (6–4)-photoproducts, found in keratinocytes and LCs in the epidermis, and in DCs in lymph nodes draining irradiated sites (Sontag et al., 1995). An opossum and several mouse models have been developed indicating that UV exposure induces DNA damage in the skin and subsequent suppression of CHS responses: however, if the DNA damage is repaired using specific enzymes, the CHS responses are restored to similar values as found in unirradiated animals (reviewed in Vink et al., 1998). The mechanism is likely to be via the release of immunosuppressive cytokines such as IL-10 that promote the proliferation of the Th2 subset. Recently it has been shown that the cytokine IL-12 can reduce UV-induced DNA damage by stimulating nucleotide excision repair (Schwarz et al., 2005)—another example of the direct link between cytokines and DNA.

Corroborating evidence to link DNA damage with immune modulation has emerged from studies on human subjects with genetic disorders like xeroderma pigmentosum, in whom DNA excision repair is absent and the risk of developing skin cancer on body sites constantly exposed to the sun is greatly increased (Kraemer et al., 1987). Transgenic mice with similar defects in DNA repair have also been examined (Garssen et al., 2000). One practical and encouraging application of these results is that a lipsome lotion containing a DNA repair enzyme, applied to the skin for 1 year, reduced the rates of actinic keratosis (a precursor lesion to non-melanoma skin cancer) and skin cancer in patients with xeroderma pigmentosum, compared with a placebo cream (Yarosh, 2004).

The *trans*-isomer of UCA is formed from histidine on activation of histidase in the upper layers of the epidermis. *Trans*-UCA accumulates in this site as the catabolic enzyme, urocanase, is not found in skin. It is a major absorber of UVR in the skin, isomerising to *cis*-UCA. This response is dose dependent until the photostationary state is reached when there are about equal amount of both isomers. UCA was first suggested to act as a "natural" sunscreen but, on testing, has been shown to offer minimal protection only against sunburn (de Fine Olivarius et al., 1999). In 1983, De Fabo and Noonan proposed that *cis*-UCA could be an initiator of UV-induced immunosuppression. A variety of approaches since that date have confirmed this hypothesis (Norval and El-Ghorr, 2002). *Cis*-UCA may be particularly important in systems requiring antigen presentation and processing, such as occurs in microbial infections (Kim et al., 2003).

Despite many experiments involving a variety of in vivo and in vitro systems, the mechanism of action of *cis*-UCA remains unclear and, indeed, whether it initiates events at the site of isomerisation in the skin or more systemically is not still known.

The cell membrane has been shown to be the target of UVR as the following complex series of events can occur in cells in which the nuclei have been removed (Devary et al., 1993). The UV exposure alters the cellular redox equilibrium which causes free radical formation (oxidative stress) and membrane lipid peroxidation. It

has been suggested that the resulting activation of various enzymes at the plasma membrane leads to the synthesis of several mediators and then to the phosphorylation and activation of important transcription factors, such as NF- κ B (Simon et al., 1994). These factors control the production of the range of immunomodulating cytokines following the UV irradiation of keratinocytes (Rosette and Karin, 1996). A further discovery involves the molecule, platelet activating factor (PAF). This is secreted by keratinocytes in response to the oxidative stress induced by UVR when membrane phosphatidyl choline is oxidised (Barber et al., 1998). Binding of PAF to its receptors, found on a variety of calls including monocytes, mast cells and keratinocytes, activates prostaglandin and cytokine (IL-4 and IL-10) production (Walterscheid et al., 2002). Hence, the immunosuppressive pathway following UVR is initiated.

4. Secondary steps in UV-induced immunosuppression

As indicated in Section 3 above, changes in the cytokine profiles of several cell types located in the epidermis and dermis occur following the absorption of UVR by the photoreceptors. Although it is difficult to determine the sequence of events in this complex cascade of UV-induced mediators, evidence has been obtained to indicate that the order is PAF, PGE₂, IL-4 and IL-10 in systemic UV-induced immunosuppression (Shreedhar et al., 1998). These changes in mediator concentration then have profound effects on various cell populations, both locally in the skin and elsewhere in the body, as described below.

It has been known since 1980 that the number of LCs in the epidermis decreases markedly following UVR (Toews et al., 1980). The morphology of the LCs remaining in the epidermis is altered such that the integrity of the interdigitating network is lost. Many of the LCs migrate to the draining lymph nodes while others, perhaps depending on the dose and wavelength of the UVR, are trapped in the skin or undergo apoptosis. Some LCs arriving in the draining lymph nodes show evidence of DNA damage (Sontag et al., 1995), and the expression of various co-stimulatory molecules on their cell surface, such as ICAM-1 and CD86, important in antigen presentation is impaired (Simon et al., 1991; Tang and Udey, 1991).

These changes in LC density, maturity and function largely explain why there is a local suppression in CHS responses if haptens are applied directly to the irradiated skin site within a few days of the exposure, while the LC network is disrupted. Re-sensitisation with the same antigen at a later time point at a distant site also fails to induce a response: this is called tolerance induction and is thought to be due to the induction of antigenspecific T_{reg} cells (see below). In the systemic models of hypersensitivity, in which the antigen is applied to a distant unirradiated site, the release of the soluble mediators is likely to affect DCs throughout the body and particularly their function as antigen presenting cells.

Within 2–3 days of UV exposure, monocytic/macrophagic cells infiltrate into the dermis and then into the epidermis. Changes in adhesion molecule expression on the surface of endothelial cells may allow this to happen. These cells can be distinguished from LCs on the basis of the expression of several markers. They may promote immunosuppression by producing high levels of the immunosuppressive cytokine IL-10 and low levels of IL-12 and by expressing different co-stimulatory molecules from LCs; thus, potentially stimulating different T cell subsets from LCs (Kang et al., 1994; Meunier et al., 1995).

Multiple mechanisms are involved when the UV-irradiated LCs or DCs act as antigen presenting cells. First, it was shown several years ago that irradiated antigen presenting cells produce a cytokine profile that promotes Th2 cells and not Th1 cells (Simon et al., 1990; Boonstra et al., 2000). As the cytokines released on stimulation of the Th1 subset are the most effective at dealing with hypersensitivity responses, tumours and infected cells, reduced immune control can result. Secondly, although the concept of T cells with "suppressor" activity had been suggested many years ago as being involved in UV-induced immunosuppression (Fisher and Kriple, 1978,1982; Elmets et al., 1983), it was only recently that such cell populations have been identified and characterised more fully. They are now termed "regulatory" cells (reviewed in Schwarz, 2005).

Elegant studies, using a local model of CHS, showed that antigen-specific T_{reg} cells are stimulated through antigen presentation by UV-damaged but still viable LCs, present in the lymph nodes draining irradiated skin sites. These T_{reg} cells release IL-10 on activation by the specific antigen (Schwarz et al., 2000, 2004). Using a systemic tumour mouse model, Moodycliffe et al. (2000) revealed another type of T suppressor cells, NK-T cells. Within hours of activation, they secrete high concentration of a range of cytokines, particularly IL-4, which are capable of regulating immune responses systemically.

5. General remarks concerning the mechanisms of UV-induced immunosuppression

The complexities of the cascade outlined above are indicated by the range of cutaneous photoreceptors, the release of a remarkable variety of mediators locally in the irradiated skin site and systemically, the changes in the nature and function of antigen presenting cells, and the effects on T cell populations, especially the generation of subsets with suppressor activity. Fig. 1a illustrates the principal steps leading to UV-induced immunosuppression, and Fig. 1b shows more details of both local and systemic UV-induced immunosuppression. While much of this information has been obtained from in vitro studies or from mouse models, experiments using human subjects have shown that similar mechanisms are likely to operate. For example, in humans, both DTH (Moyal et al., 1997; Damain et al., 1998) and CHS (Kelly et al., 1998) responses can be suppressed by UVR, and the photoreceptors (Wolf et al., 2000) and effects on antigen presenting cells (Cooper et al., 1985) are equivalent to those described in mice.

Mouse strains can be divided into ones that exhibit suppression of CHS following low UV doses (called susceptible) and ones that are resistant, requiring larger doses of UVR to be affected. These strains differ between the local and and systemic models of CHS. In the former, the TNF- α locus is of prime importance (Handel-Fernandez et al., 1999), while mast cell prevalence is one critical factor in the latter, with the higher the number of mast cells, the more susceptible the strain (Hart et al., 1998). Whether people can be categorised in a similar way into UV-susceptible and resistant is not clear (see Section 6.1 below).

The majority of experimental systems to date have involved a single or a limited number of exposures to UVR, containing the UVB waveband predominantly, and in doses sufficient to cause erythema, followed by application of the test antigen. Under natural conditions, people are exposed to solar UVR, in which the UVB

(a) UV radiation Ł absorption by photoreceptors in skin Ψ release of immune mediators in skin ┶ changes in antigen presenting cells Ψ generation of T regulatory cells ւ immunosuppression UV radiation (b) Ł DNA damage trans to cis-urocanic acid membrane changes ⅎ release of platelet activating factor, prostaglandins, cytokines (e.g. TNF-a, IL-10), neuropeptides and neuroendocrine hormones Z м LOCAL SYSTEMIC v

DNA damage and changes in Langerhans cell numbers and function ↓ loss of IL-12 and Th1 cytokines

induction of T regulatory cells, secreting IL-10 epidermal influx of macrophages loss of IL-12 stimulation of IL-10 and IL-4 induction of NK-T cells, secreting IL-4

changes in dendritic cell function

Fig. 1. (a) Outline of pathway leading to UV-induced immunosuppression, and (b) detailed pathway leading to local (antigen applied to irradiated skin site) and systemic (antigen applied to distant unirradiated site) immunosuppression caused by UV radiation.

represents about 6% of the total UV spectrum, and they frequently receive suberythemal doses on a daily basis, especially during the summer months. Many respond to this chronic type of UVR by tanning and by epidermal thickening. It is possible that these responses, that provide some protection against the burning effects of UVR, could also lead to photoadaptation, so that protection against UV-induced immunosuppression might develop. This has been tested recently, both in mice and humans. It was shown that, for most immune responses, photoadaptation did not occur, i.e. the immune suppression continued throughout a period of repeated daily exposures to suberythemal solar simulated radiation (Narbutt et al., 2005; McLoone et al., 2005).

6. The consequences of UV-induced immunosuppression for humans

6.1. Skin tumours

The immune defence mechanisms in the skin that guard against tumour development are multiple and generally effective. This is demonstrated by the huge increase in the risk of squamous cell carcinomas (SCCs) in individuals who are immunosuppressed, such as renal allograft recipients (Harteveld et al., 1990). Skin cancers can be induced experimentally in mice by chronic UV exposure. These tumours are highly antigenic and it has been shown that T suppressor cells, specific for the tumour antigens, are generated in the UV-irradiated mice (see Section 4 above). Immunosuppressive cytokines, such as IL-10, produced locally in exposed body sites may also contribute to the down-regulation.

Yoshikawa et al. (1990) reported that human volunteers could be divided into those (35%) in whom local CHS could be suppressed by exposure to UVR on each of four consecutive days prior to hapten application (called susceptible), and those in whom no suppression occurred (65%, resistant). It was then revealed that 92% of patients with a history of non-melanoma skin cancer and 100% of those with a history of malignant melanoma fell into the susceptible category. This finding led to the suggestion that UV-induced local suppression of CHS might act as a risk factor/indicator of skin cancer development. The distinct division of people into UV-susceptible and resistant has not been corroborated in some other studies in which suppression of local immune responses by UVR occurred in almost all the individuals tested (for example, Kelly et al., 1998). Differences in the dose and spectrum of UVR and number of exposures may help to explain these disparate findings. In addition, the amount of sensitiser used may be important. Generally, the lower the quantity of hapten applied to the irradiated skin, the more likely that immunosuppression is apparent on elicitation.

As stated above in Section 5, studies in mice had shown that susceptibility to UV-induced systemic immunosuppression could be related to the prevalence of dermal mast cells, so that the strains with the highest density of mast cells were the most susceptible (Hart et al., 1998). Presumably, this correlation is due to the quantity of mediators released on degranulation of the mast cells following the UV exposure that then have effects on immune responses downstream. Humans also display variations in mast cell prevalence, and equivalent studies to those done in mice have been carried out in patients with basal cell carcinoma or melanoma and control subjects with no skin tumours. Evidence was obtained to associate a high dermal mast cell prevalence with both types of skin cancer (Grimbaldeston et al., 2003, 2004). Grimbaldeston et al. (2004) suggest that the mast cells are critical in the promotion of the UV-induced immune suppression as they may allow a permissive environment for the development of basal cell carcinoma and melanoma in humans, in conjunction with UVR as a major mutagenic risk factor.

An interesting report indicated an association between sunburn and UV-induced local suppression of CHS (Kelly et al., 2000). It was found that the CHS of all subjects with skin type I/II who are sun-sensitive and tan poorly, and all subjects with skin type III/IV who are sun-tolerant and tan well, could be suppressed by exposure to solar irradiation, equivalent to one hour of midday summer sunlight, one day prior to the application of the sensitiser on the exposed site. However, if the UV dose was reduced to lower than that which causes burning of the skin, types I/II were 2–3-fold more susceptible to immunosuppression than types III/IV. Therefore, the increased susceptibility of pale skinned people to UV-induced immunosuppression for a given level of sunburn may play a role in their increased risk of skin cancer development.

6.2. Infectious diseases and vaccination

The main adaptive immune mechanism that offers protection from many infectious diseases, particularly those caused by intracellular organisms, is the Th1 cytokine response. As UVR suppresses this preferentially, while promoting the Th2 cytokine response, there is the potential for UV exposure to increase the severity of infection, to alter viral oncogenicity, to cause reactivation from latency or to decrease the resistance to re-infection.

About 16 rodent models of infectious disease have been studied in the context of UVR and immunity. The range of microorganisms used is illustrated in Table 1. In almost all cases, suppression of immune responses occurred following the UV exposure. In some models this resulted in a reduced ability to clear the infection, increased severity of symptoms or even death (reviewed in National Radiological Protection Board Report, 2002). The data generated in the animal models of infection have been related to the human situation and an estimate of the solar exposure required to reduce resistance to infection obtained. It was concluded that about 100 min of sunlight around noon on a clear day at latitudes similar to southern Mediterranean countries would cause a 50% suppression of the T cell response to a bacterial infection in human subjects (Garssen et al., 1996). The veracity of this figure has not been tested due to the impossibility of infecting people experimentally.

While UVR undoubtedly affects immune responses to infectious agents in animal models, the situation with human infections is not so clear, perhaps due, in part, to a lack of investigation. Only two infections are well recognised to be influenced by natural exposure to sunlight, those caused by herpes simplex virus (HSV) and human papillomavirus (HPV).

HSV-induced vesicular lesions (cold sores) occur frequently in the orofacial region. At the time of the primary infection, the virus establishes latency in the local ganglion and can be reactivated at intervals thereafter to cause the cold sores again in the same site in the skin. UVR is one of the commonest and most frequently recognised stimulus for the reactivation (Ichihashi et al., 2004). One mechanism likely to operate here is the suppression in local immune responses as a result of the UV exposure: therefore the virus arriving at the cutaneous site from the ganglion will have time to replicate and to induce the clinical symptoms before immunological control is regained (Gilmour et al., 1993; van der Molen et al., 2001). A second mechanism is probably a more direct interaction between the UVR and the virus. For example, UV-induced damage to nerve endings can lead to changes in host transcription factors that result in the activation of HSV promoters and hence the reactivation of the virus (Loiacono et al., 2003).

Table 1

				suppression				

Viruses Herpes simplex virus Murine leukaemia virus Rat cytomegalovirus Influenza virus

Fungi

Candida albicans Metarhizium aniopliae

Bacteria

Mycobacterium bovis BCG Mycobacterium lepraemurium Listeria monocytogenes Borrelia burgdorferi

Protozoa/Nematodes Plasmodium chabaudi Schistosoma mansoni Leishmania sp. Trichinella spirilis The second example where sunlight is an important factor is in the promotion of the development of SCCs in sites of infection with certain HPV types. This happens in immunosuppressed individuals and those with the rare genetic disease, epidermodysplasia verruciformis, in which there is a defect in DC function. In both groups of subjects, the SCCs are found almost entirely on body sites most exposed naturally to the sun, such as the face and backs of the hands (Harteveld et al., 1990), and the prevalence of tumours is highest in sunny climates. As is the case with HSV, the UVR is likely to act in several ways. It reduces the effectiveness of the local immune responses in the skin, in addition to being mutagenic. It also induces up-regulation in the expression of the tumour suppressor protein, p53. p53 has been shown to bind to the promoter of particular HPV types; thus, increasing the expression of the viral transforming proteins. The end result of these interactions is deregulated cell growth (Purdie et al., 1999).

To add to these HPV/sunlight interactions, an intriguing recent study based in the Netherlands has indicated a seasonal fluctuation in the frequency of cervical smears positive for HPV, with a distinct peak in the summer months (Hrushesky et al., 2005). Evidence was obtained to demonstrate a positive correlation between the HPV detection rate and solar UV fluency. Hrushesky and colleagues speculate that UV-induced immunosuppression could be the reason for the increase in active HPV infections in the cervix in the summer months.

In addition to infections, it is important to consider UV in relation to vaccination to establish, for example, whether vaccination in the summer months is less effective than in the winter months or if the resistance to reinfection is significantly lowered by sun exposure. Only one large-scale experimental study regarding vaccination in human subjects has been carried out. In it, volunteers were immunised with recombinant hepatitis B surface antigen following, in some individuals, whole-body UV irradiation on five consecutive days (one minimal erythema dose on each occasion). It was found that, while natural killer cell activity and CHS responses were suppressed in the irradiated individuals compared with the unirradiated controls, there was no difference between the two groups in the T cell response or the antibody response, specific for hepatitis B (Slejiffers et al., 2001). This particular vaccine contains aluminium hydroxide as an adjuvant which is known to direct the immune response towards the production of Th2 cytokines. In addition it is administered at high dose to try to induce protective immunity in poor responders. These two factors may explain the apparent lack of an effect of UVR. However, the subjects were later genotyped to characterise their cytokine polymorphisms. Certain such polymorphisms are known to affect cytokine production or activity. It was revealed that individuals with a particular IL-1 β polymorphism demonstrated significant suppression of antibody responses to hepatitis B virus if UV irradiated prior to the vaccination (Yucesov et al., 2002). In addition, when skin samples from the volunteers were assessed for cis-UCA concentration, UV-irradiated subjects with higher *cis*-UCA levels showed suppressed T cell responses to the vaccine (Sleijffers et al., 2003). Thus, these results indicate that there are genetic and other differences in the way in which an individual might response to vaccination in the context of UVR.

6.3. Autoimmune diseases

It is possible that UV-induced immunosuppression could affect some organ-specific autoimmune diseases. In particular those diseases thought to be associated with Th1 activity, such as insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus or multiple sclerosis, would be predicted to benefit from the UV exposure. There is some evidence to substantiate this idea (for example Ponsonby et al., 2002; McMichael and Hall, 1997). Autoimmune diseases in the context of UVR are the subject of other reviews in this issue, and the reader is referred to these papers for more details.

7. The skin immune system and vitamin D

All the steps leading to the synthesis of the active form of vitamin D (1 α 25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ or calcitriol) from 7-dehydrocholesterol can take place in the skin (Lehmann et al., 2001). As both keratinocytes and LCs express vitamin D receptors, calcitriol is likely to play an important role in regulating biological processes locally in the skin, including the function of cutaneous immunocompetent cells. Many of the

accompanying papers in this issue deal with vitamin D in detail: here, only its effects on the skin immune system are considered briefly.

Several studies have investigated the interaction of calcitriol with LCs. In summary calcitriol does not alter the density of LCs in the epidermis or their ability to migrate to the draining lymph node. However, it impairs their maturation, leading to a down-regulation in the expression of various co-stimulatory molecules (CD40, CD80 and CD86), and thus to an inhibition in antigen presentation (Kowitz et al., 1998; Meindl et al., 2005). It is suggested that the local UV-induced synthesis of calcitriol in the skin is likely to contribute to the immune suppression that follows UV exposure and may be a factor in the generation of immune tolerance.

In contrast to these findings, another report concludes that calcitriol protects against the immunosuppression caused by UVR by promoting the repair of CPDs and by reducing apoptosis (Dixon et al., 2005). Increased expression of p53 resulted from treatment of skin cells with calcitriol, and this change in p53 may facilitate the repair of the DNA damage associated with UVR.

It is difficult to reconcile these two sets of results at the present time. However, it must be critical for the effective functioning of the skin immune system that the potentially immunosuppressive effects of vitamin D are balanced against its regulatory effects on the proliferation and differentiation of keratinocytes and on promoting DNA repair in the skin.

8. Conclusions and outstanding questions

Huge advances have been made in the past few years in understanding the changes that occur in the skin immune system following exposure to UVR. In particular, the identification of the range of cutaneous photoreceptors and of T regulatory cells has been significant. Although the majority of these studies have been undertaken in rodents, those involving human subjects have produced similar results. The new knowledge has led to the hope of novel approaches for the prevention of skin cancers and for the treatment of a range of diseases with immunological features.

The immunomodulation that occurs after UVR is an important factor when considering the incidence of skin cancers in the human population. Its contribution to altering the incidence or severity of human infectious diseases is not so clear, apart from those infections caused by HSV and HPV, despite overwhelming evidence from many animal models of infection. Similarly, the influence of UVR on the immune response to vaccination is uncertain at the present time and requires further study. Links have been made between solar UVR exposure and the prevalence of several Th1-mediated autoimmune diseases but these remain to be tested rigorously in experimental models. Whether active vitamin D, formed in the epidermis as a result of UVR, has an overall down-regulatory effect on the skin immune system has not been fully examined as yet, and it will be important to determine the role of vitamin D in immune regulation in the context of solar UV exposure.

References

- Barber, L.A., Spandau, D.F., Rathman, S.C., Murphy, R.C., Johnson, C.A., Kelley, S.W., Hurwitz, S.A., Travers, J.B., 1998. Expression of the platelet-activating factor receptor results in enhanced ultraviolet B radiation-induced apoptosis in a human epidermal cell line. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 18891–18897.
- Boonstra, A., van Oudenaren, A., Barendregt, B., An, L., Leenen, P.J., Savelkoul, H.F., 2000. UVB irradiation modulates systemic immune responses by affecting cytokine production of antigen-presenting cells. Int. Immunol. 12, 1531–1538.
- Cooper, K.D., Fox, P., Neises, G.R., Katz, S.I., 1985. Effects of UVR on human epidermal cell alloantigen presentation: initial depression of Langerhans cell dependent function is followed by the appearance of T6⁻DR⁺ cells that enhance epidermal alloantigen presentation. J. Immunol. 134, 129–137.
- Damain, D.L., Halliday, G.M., Taylor, C.A., Barnetson, R.S., 1998. Ultraviolet radiation induced suppression of Mantoux reactions in humans. J. Invest. Dermatol. 110, 824–827.
- De Fabo, E.C., Noonan, F.P., 1983. Mechanism of immune suppression by ultraviolet irradiation in vivo. Part I: evidence for the existence of an unique photoreceptor in skin and its role in photoimmunology. J. Exp. Med. 157, 84–98.
- De Fine Olivarius, F., Wulf, H.C., Crosby, J., Norval, M., 1999. Sunscreen protection against *cis*-urocanic acid production in human skin. Acta Dermato-Venereol. 79, 426–430.
- Devary, Y., Rosette, C., DiDonato, J.A., Karin, M., 1993. NF-κB activation by ultraviolet light is not dependent on a nuclear signal. Science 261, 1442–1445.

- Dixon, K.M., Deo, S.S., Wong, G., Slater, M., Norman, A.W., Bishop, J.E., Posner, G.H., Ishizuka, S., Halliday, G.M., Reeve, V.E., Mason, R.S., 2005. Skin cancer prevention: a possible role of 1,25hihydroxyvitamin D3 and its analogs. J. Steroid Biochem. Molec. Biol. 97, 137–143.
- Elmets, C.A., Bergstresser, P.R., Tigelaar, R.E., Wood, P.J., Streilein, J.W., 1983. Analysis of the mechanism of unresponsiveness produced by haptens painted on skin exposed to low dose ultraviolet radiation. J. Exp. Med. 158, 781–794.
- Fisher, M.S., Kripke, M.L., 1977. Systemic alteration induced in mice by ultraviolet light irradiation and its relationship to ultraviolet carcinogenesis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 74, 1688–1692.
- Fisher, M.S., Kriple, M.L., 1978. Further studies on the tumor-specific suppressor cells induced by ultraviolet radiation. J. Immunol. 121, 1139–1144.
- Garssen, J., Goettsch, W., de Gruijl, F.R., Slob, W., van Loveren, H., 1996. Risk assessment of UVB effects on resistance to infectious diseases. Photochem. Photobiol. 64, 269–274.
- Garssen, J., van Steeg, H., de Gruijl, F., de Boer, J., van der Horst, G.T., van Kranen, H., van Loveren, H., van Dijk, M., Fluitman, A., Weeda, G., Hoeijmakers, J.H., 2000. Transcription-coupled and global genome repair differentially influence UV-B-induced acute skin effects and systemic immunosuppression. J. Immunol. 164, 6199–6205.
- Gilmour, J.W., Vestey, J.P., Norval, M., 1993. The effect of UV therapy on immune function in patients with psoriasis. Br. J. Dermatol. 129, 28–38.
- Grimbaldeston, M.A., Green, A., Darlington, S., Robertson, B.O., Marshman, G., Finlay-Jones, J.J., Hart, P.H., 2003. Susceptibility to basal cell carcinoma is associated with high dermal mast cell prevalence in non-sun-exposed skin for an Australian population. Photochem. Photobiol. 78, 633–639.
- Grimbaldeston, M.A., Pearce, A.L., Robertson, B.O., Coventry, B.J., Marshman, G., Finlay-Jones, J.J., Hart, P.H., 2004. Association between melanoma and dermal mast cell prevalence in sun-exposed skin. Br. J. Dermatol. 150, 895–903.
- Handel-Fernandez, M.E., Kurimoto, I., Streilein, J.W., Vincek, V., 1999. Genetic mapping and physical cloning of UVB-susceptibility region in mice. J. Invest. Dermatol. 113, 224–229.
- Hart, P.H., Grimbaldeston, M., Swift, G.J., Jaksic, A., Noonan, F.P., Finlay-Jones, J.J., 1998. Dermal mast cells determine susceptibility to ultraviolet B-induced systemic suppression of contact hypersensitivity in mice. J. Exp. Med. 187, 2045–2053.
- Harteveld, M.M., Bouwes Bavinck, J.N., Kootte, A.M., Vermeer, B.J., Vandenbroucke, J.P., 1990. Incidence of skin cancer after renal transplantation in the Netherlands. Transplantation 49, 506–509.
- Hrushesky, W.J., Sothern, R.B., Rietveld, W.J., Du Quiton, J., Boon, M.E., 2005. Season, sun, sex, and cervical cancer. Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prevention 14, 1940–1947.
- Ichihashi, M., Nagai, H., Matsunaga, K., 2004. Sunlight is an important causative factor of recurrent herpes simplex. Cutis 74 (Suppl. 5), 14–18.
- Kang, K., Hammerberg, C., Meunier, L., Cooper, K.D., 1994. CD11b⁺ macrophages that infiltrate human epidermis after in vivo ultraviolet exposure potently produce IL-10 and represent the major secretory source of epidermal IL-10 protein. J. Immunol. 153, 5256–5264.
- Kelly, D.A., Walker, S.L., McGregor, J.M., Young, A.R., 1998. A single exposure of solar simulated radiation suppresses contact hypersensitivity both locally and systemically in humans: quantitative studies with high frequency ultrasound. J. Photochem. Photobiol. B: Biol. 44, 130–142.
- Kelly, D.A., Young, A.R., McGregor, J.M., Seed, P.T., Potten, C.S., Walker, S.L., 2000. Sensitivity to sunburn is associated with susceptibility to ultraviolet radiation-induced suppression of cutaneous cell-mediated immunity. J. Exp. Med. 191, 561–566.
- Kim, T.H., Moodycliffe, A.M., Yarosh, D.B., Norval, M., Kripke, M.L., Ullrich, S.E., 2003. Viability of the antigen determines whether DNA or urocanic acid act as initiator molecules for UV-induced suppression of delayed-type hypersensitivity. Photochem. Photobiol. 78, 228–234.
- Kowitz, A., Greiner, M., Theiroff-Ekerdt, R., 1998. Inhibitory effects of 1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ on allogeneic lymphocyte stimulation and Langerhans cell maturation. Arch. Dermatol. Res. 290, 540–546.
- Kraemer, K.H., Lee, M.M., Scotto, J., 1987. Xeroderma pigmentosum. Cutaneous, ocular and neurologic abnormalities in 830 published cases. Arch. Dermatol. 123, 241–250.
- Kripke, M.L., Fisher, M.S., 1976. Immunologic parameters of ultraviolet carcinogenesis. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 57, 211–215.
- Larregina, A.T., Falo, L.D., 2005. Changing paradigms in cutaneous immunology: adapting with dendritic cells. J. Invest. Dermatol. 124, 1–12.
- Lehmann, B., Genehr, T., Knuschke, P., Pietzsch, J., Meurer, M., 2001. UVB-induced conversion of 7-dehydrocholesterol to 1alpha,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 in an in vitro human skin equivalent model. J. Invest. Dermatol. 117, 1179–1185.
- Loiacono, C.M., Taus, N.S., Mitchell, W.J., 2003. The herpes simplex virus type 1 ICP0 promoter is activated by viral reactivation stimuli in trigeminal ganglia neurons of transgenic mice. J. NeuroVirol. 9, 336–345.
- McLoone, P., Woods, G.M., Norval, M., 2005. Decrease in Langerhans cells and increase in lymph node dendritic cells following chronic exposure of mice to suberythemal doses of solar simulated radiation. Photochem. Photobiol. 81, 1168–1173.
- McMichael, A.J., Hall, A.J., 1997. Does immunosuppressive ultraviolet radiation explain the latitude gradiaet for multiple sclerosis? Epidemiology 8, 642–645.
- Meindl, S., Rot, A., Hoetzenecker, W., Kato, S., Cross, H.S., Elbe-Bruger, A., 2005. Vitamin D receptor ablation alters skin architecture and homeostasis of dendritic epidermal T cells. Br. J. Dermatol. 152, 231–241.
- Meunier, L., Bata-Csorgo, Z., Cooper, K.D., 1995. In human dermis, ultraviolet radiation induces expansion of a CD36⁺CD11b⁺ CD1macrophage subset by infiltration and proliferation: CD1⁺ Langerhans-like dendritic antigen-presenting cells are concomitantly depleted. J. Invest. Dermatol. 105, 782–788.

- Moodycliffe, A.M., Ngheim, D., Clydesdale, G., Ullrich, S.E., 2000. Immune suppression and skin cancer development: regulation by NKT cells. Nat. Immunol. 1, 521–525.
- Moyal, D., Courbiere, C., Le Corre, Y., de Lacharriere, O., Hourseau, C., 1997. Immunosuppression induced by chronic solar-simulated irradiation in humans and its prevention by sunscreens. Eur. J. Immunol. 7, 223–225.
- Narbutt, J., Lesiak, A., Skibinska, M., Wozniacka, A., van Loveren, H., Sysa-Jedrzejowska, A., Lewy-Trenda, I., Omulecka, A., Norval, M., 2005. Suppression of contact hypersensitivity after repeated exposures of humans to low doses of solar simulated radiation. Photochem. Photobiol. Sci. 4, 517–522.
- National Radiological Protection Board Report, 2002. Health Effects from Ultraviolet Radiation, vol. 13. pp. 62-64.
- Norval, M., El-Ghorr, A.A., 2002. Studies to determine the immunomodulating effects of cis-urocanic acid. Methods 28, 63-70.
- Ponsonby, A.-L., McMichael, A., van der Mei, I., 2002. Ultraviolet radiation and autoimmune disease: insights from epidemiological research. Toxicology 181–182, 71–78.
- Purdie, K.J., Pennington, J., Proby, C.M., Khalaf, S., de Villiers, E.-M., Leigh, I.M., Storey, A., 1999. The promoter of a novel human papillomavirus (HPV77) associated with skin cancer displays UV responsiveness, which is mediated though a consensus p53 binding site. EMBO J. 18, 5359–5369.
- Rosette, C., Karin, M., 1996. Ultraviolet light and osmotic stress; activation of the JNK cascade through multiple growth factor and cytokine receptors. Science 274, 1194–1197.
- Schwarz, T., 2005. Regulatory T cells induced by ultraviolet radiation. Int. Arch. Allergy Immunol. 137, 187-193.
- Schwarz, A., Beissert, S., Grosse-Heitmeyer, K.K., Gunzer, M., Bluestone, J.A., Grabbe, S., Schwarz, T., 2000. Evidence for functional relevance of CTLA-4 in ultraviolet-radiation-induced tolerance. J. Immunol. 165, 1824–1831.
- Schwarz, A., Maeda, A., Wild, M.K., Kernbeck, K., Gross, N., Aragane, Y., Beissert, S., Vestweber, D., Schwarz, T., 2004. Ultraviolet radiation-induced regulatory T cells not only inhibit the induction but can suppress the effector phase of contact hypersensitivity. J. Immunol. 172, 1036–1043.
- Schwarz, A., Maeda, A., Kernebeck, K., van Steeg, H., Beissert, S., Schwarz, T., 2005. Prevention of UV radiation-induced immunosuppression by IL-12 is dependent on DNA repair. J. Exp. Med. 201, 173–179.
- Shreedhar, V., Giese, T., Sung, V.W., Ullrich, S.E., 1998. A cytokine cascade including prostaglandin E₂, interleukin-4, and interleukin-10 is responsible for UV-induced systemic immune suppression. J. Immunol. 160, 3783–3789.
- Simon, J.C., Cruz Jr., P.D., Bergstresser, P.R., Tigelaar, R.E., 1990. Low dose ultraviolet B-irradiated Langerhans' cells preferentially activate CD4+ cells of the T helper 2 subset. J. Immunol. 145, 2087–2091.
- Simon, J.C., Cruz Jr., P.D., Tigelaar, R.E., Sontheimer, R.D., Bergstresser, P.R., 1991. Adhesion molecules CD11a, CD18, and ICAM-1 on human epidermal Langerhans cells serve a functional role in the activation of alloreactive T cells. J. Invest. Dermatol. 96, 148–151.
- Simon, M.M., Aragane, Y., Schwarz, A., Luger, T.A., Schwarz, T., 1994. UVB light induces a nuclear factor κB (NF-κB) activity independently from chromosomal DNA damage in cell-free cytosolic extracts. J. Invest. Dermatol. 102, 422–427.
- Sleijffers, A., Garssen, J., de Gruijl, F.R., Boland, G.J., van Hattum, J., van Vloten, W.A., van Loveren, H., 2001. Influence of ultraviolet B exposure on immune responses following hepatitis B vaccination in human volunteers. J. Invest. Dermatol. 117, 1144–1150.
- Sleijffers, A., Kammeyer, A., de Gruijl, F.R., Boland, G.J., van Hattum, J., van Vloten, W.A., van Loveren, H., Teunissen, M.B.M., Garssen, J., 2003. Epidermal *cis*-urocanic acid levels correlate with lower specific cellular immune responses after hepatitis B vaccination of ultraviolet B-exposed humans. Photochem. Photobiol. 77, 271–275.
- Sontag, Y., Guikers, C.L.H., Vink, A.A., De Gruijl, F.R., Van Loveren, H., Garssen, J., Roza, L., Kripke, M.L., Van der Leun, J.C., Van Vloten, W.A., 1995. Cells with UV-specific DNA damage are present in murine lymph nodes after in vivo UV irradiation. J. Invest. Dermatol. 104, 734–738.
- Tang, A., Udey, M.C., 1991. Inhibition of epidermal Langerhans cell function by low dose ultraviolet B radiation. Ultraviolet B radiation selectively modulates ICAM-1 (CD54) expression by murine Langerhans cells. J. Immunol. 146, 3347–3355.
- Toews, G.B., Bergstresser, P.R., Streilein, J.W., 1980. Epidermal Langerhans cell density determines whether contact hypersensitivity or unresponsiveness follows skin painting with DNFB. J. Immunol. 124, 445–457.
- Van der Molen, R.G., Out-Luiting, C., Claas, F.H., Norval, M., Koerten, H.K., Mommaas, A.M., 2001. Ultraviolet-B radiation induces modulation of antigen presentation of herpes simplex virus by human epidermal cells. Hum. Immunol. 62, 589–597.
- Vink, A.A., Shreedhar, V., Roza, L., Krutmann, J., Kripke, M.L., 1998. Cellular target of UVB-induced DNA damage resulting in local suppression of contact hypersensitivity. J. Photochem. Photobiol. B: Biol. 44, 107–111.
- Walterscheid, J.P., Ullrich, S.E., Ngheim, D.X., 2002. Platelet-activating factor, a molecular sensor for cellular damage, activates systemic immune suppression. J. Exp. Med. 195, 171–179.
- Wolf, P., Maier, H., Mullegger, R.R., Chadwick, C.A., Hofmann-Wellenhof, R., Soyer, H.P., Smolle, J., Horn, M., Cerroni, L., Yarosh, D., Klein, J., Bucana, C., Dunner, K., Potten, C.S., Honigsmann, H., Kerl, H., Kripke, M.L., 2000. Topical treatment with liposomes containing T4 endonuclease V protects human skin in vivo from ultraviolet-induced upregulation of interleukin-10 and tumor necrosis factor-alpha. J. Invest. Dermatol. 114, 149–156.
- Yarosh, D.B., 2004. DNA repair, immunosuppression, and skin cancer. Cutis 74 (Suppl. 5), 10-13.
- Yoshikawa, T., Rae, V., Bruins-Slot, W., Van den Berg, J.W., Taylor, J.R., Streilein, J.W., 1990. Susceptibility to effects of UVB radiation on induction of contact hypersensitivity as a risk factor for skin cancer in humans. J. Invest. Dermatol. 95, 530–536.
- Yucesoy, B., Sleijffers, A., Kashon, M., Garssen, J., de Gruijl, F.R., Boland, G.J., van Hattum, J., Simeonova, P.P., Luster, M.I., van Loveren, H., 2002. IL-1beta gene polymorphisms influence hepatitis B vaccination. Vaccine 20, 193–196.